
Agenda subject to change prior to meeting 
 

- Discussio 
 
 

CITY OF AUBURN 
MAYOR and CITY COUNCIL 

March 13, 2025 
6:00 PM 

Council Chambers 
1 Auburn Way 

Auburn, GA 30011 
 
 
COUNCIL REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
1. PUD - Planned Unit Development District Ordinance Amendment- Sarah McQuade 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
Citizen Comments on Agenda Items 
 
2. Consent Agenda 

a. Council Business Meeting Minutes- February 27, 2025 
b. Council Workshop Meeting Minutes- February 13, 2025 
c. Perry Rainey Center Rental Fees 
d. Website Partnership Plan 
e. Sanitary Sewer Capacity Fees Ordinance 
f. Amend City Charter 5.16 Terms of Office 
g. RZ-24-000 Final Plats FP-2001, FP-2002. FP-2003 

 
VOTING ITEMS 
 
3. PUD - Planned Unit Development District Ordinance Amendment- Sarah McQuade 
4. Rezoning of 100 Lyle Road and 0 Main Street- Sarah McQuade 
5. Harmony Grove Cemetery- Michael Parks 
 
CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 

MAYOR 
Richard E. Roquemore 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
Michael E. Parks 

CITY COUNCIL 
Robert L. Vogel III 

Taylor J. Sisk 
Jamie L. Bradley 

Joshua Rowan 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM: 1 
 
TO:  Mayor and Council 
 
FROM:   Sarah McQuade  
  City Planner  
 
DATE: March 7, 2025 
 
PURPOSE: Proposed amendment to the City’s Zoning Ordinance, Section 

17.90.140, PUD: Planned Unit Development District 
 
BACKGROUND: At the request of the Mayor and City Council of Auburn, a series of 
amendments have been proposed to the text of City of Auburn Zoning Ordinance, Section 
17.90.140, which governs the PUD: Planned unit development district. The text 
amendments proposed to alter the content of all subsections and create new ones as 
indicated below. 

The contents of the proposed amendment and restructuring of Sec. 17.90.140 are 
summarized below: 

A. Intent – Reduce the scope of the PUD from large-scale, innovative, mixed-use 
development to strictly residential land uses compatible with existing 
development patterns. 

B. Purpose – Provides for flexible arrangements of residences, open spaces, and 
amenities in a master-planned fashion. 

C. Establishment of a PUD district – PUD sites shall be compatible with the 
surrounding area, with room for exceptions from size, setback, frontage, density, 
and other use standards. 

D. Minimum Standards and Requirements – Increase minimum overall residential 
density from 2.2 dwelling units per acre (du/acre) up to 3.0 du/acre. Reduce the 
minimum contiguous area for a PUD from 50 acres down to 10 acres. More 
specific requirements previously housed here have been relocated.  

E. Permitted Uses – Expand upon this section by providing explicitly permitted 
residential land use types including: single-family detached, single-family 
attached, and two-family (duplexes). 

MAYOR 
Rick E. Roquemore 
 
CITY ADMINISTRATOR   
Michael E. Parks 

CITY COUNCIL 
Robert L. Vogel III 

                 Taylor J. Sisk 
Jamie L. Bradley 

Joshua Rowan 



F. Required Reports and Plans – Provide additional and more specific information 
on what’s required for a PUD submittal. New conceptual plan requirements at this 
stage include building setbacks, minimum lot dimensions, and an architectural 
pattern guide.  

G. Exterior architectural standards for single-family residences – New content that 
governs exterior finish materials, architectural requirements, façade variations, 
building dimension, garages, driveways, and more. These standards are intended 
to promote development consistency and aesthetics. 

H. Resident Amenities – Fresh requirements for PUDs directly correlate resident 
amenity requirements to development size. Amenity types, including swimming 
pools, dog parks, and pickleball courts, have been assigned point values that count 
towards a given minimum amenity score. 

I.  Landscaping and Buffer Requirements – Ensures PUD development and abutting 
residential sites are buffered appropriately from one another, without disturbing 
existing Code requirements.  

J. Conformity with Submitted Application Materials – The development shall be in 
accordance with PUD approval. 

K. Amendments to Approved Planned Unit Developments – Minor and major 
amendments to approved PUDs are clearly defined, along with procedures for 
said amendments. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: To approve the proposed amendment as 
presented. 
 
FUNDING:  
N/A 
 



DR
AF
T

Page 1 of 7

17.90.140 PUD planned unit development district.

A. Intent. The intent of a planned unit development is to foster innovative developments that provide an
innovative mix of residential land uses and development patterns which complement the existing fabric of
Auburn, provide new development compatible with existing developments and patterns, and are supportive
of the comprehensive plan.

B. Purpose. This district encourages flexible placement, arrangement and orientation of residential structures,
active open spaces, and resident focused amenities. A planned unit development enables unique land
development that may be constrained in other established zoning districts through careful site master
planning.

C. Establishment of a PUD district. An area may be considered for rezoning to PUD if any one of the following
conditions exists:

1. The characteristics of the specific concept plan and uses proposed for the subject property would only
be compatible with the surrounding area if the development were limited to those plans and uses as
submitted;

2. Separate land uses, which would not otherwise be permitted to locate within the same zoning district,
are proposed for development on one or more adjacent parcels under single ownership;

3. Exceptions or variation from the size, setback, frontage, density, uses or other standards which are
required in the conventional zoning districts are being proposed as a part of a planned development.

D. Minimum Standards and Requirements. All proposed PUD planned unit development district applications
shall conform to all of the following requirements:

1. The maximum density shall not exceed three (3.0) dwelling units per gross acre.

2. The site shall abut public streets for a distance of at least one hundred (100) linear feet.

3. A registered engineer, architect, land surveyor or landscape architect shall prepare the plans required
for inclusion in an application. The plans shall have their official registration seal.

4. Sidewalks shall be required along both sides of all streets within a PUD. The construction standard of
the required sidewalks are given in the city development regulations; however, the minimum width of
all sidewalk along streets shall be five (5.0) feet.

6. The site proposed for a PUD classification shall have a contiguous area of not less than ten (10) acres.

E. Permitted Uses.

1. Any use allowable inherently in a conventional zoning district in this title may be proposed for
inclusion in a PUD planned unit development district. Each proposed use should be consistent in
application with the intent and purpose of the conventional zoning districts in which it is allowed. Only
the specific uses proposed in an application and approved shall be allowed in the district. Any addition
of uses, change of plans, or increase in size or density shall require a separate amendment to the
original approved PUD planned unit development district and shall follow the same administrative
process as any other amendment. Initial approval of a PUD planned unit development district by the
city does not mean that subsequent amendments to that planned unit development carry any
requirement to be approved by the city council for revision to the plan. Unless otherwise stated in this
section, the development standards and land uses which are presented with an application for
amendment shall, if approved, become the standards for the subject property and as such shall
become a part of these zoning regulations.

2. A PUD shall provide primarily single family residential land uses. Where appropriate, a mixture of
single and two family and multi family residential land uses, as provided below, may be incorporated
into a single PUD project.



DR
AF
T

Page 2 of 7

a. Residential; single family detached.

b. Residential; single family attached (town houses).

b.c. Residential; two family (duplexes),

c. Residential; multi family (apartment homes).

F. Required Reports and Plans. At the time a site is designated as a PUD district, the enumerated uses of the
zoning district of origin shall be replaced by the contents of the approved PUD. Every application for PUD
district zoning shall include all the elements as provided in this subsection. No application for rezoning to the
PUD district shall be deemed complete or scheduled for hearing until all required elements are included.

1. Letter of Intent. A letter of intent also known as a narrative statement, shall be provided which conveys
the following:

a. General description and location of the site;

b. The physical and socio economic reasons as to why the uses proposed in the planned
development would provide a better overall use of this property over the current zoning;

c. The proposed provision of utilities, including water, sewer, and drainage facilities;

d. The proposed methods for protection and buffering of abutting properties;

e. The proposed number of residential units and overall residential density (dwelling units per acre);

f. The area of land, expressed to the nearest square foot and as a percentage of the overall site, to
be set aside as common open space or recreational areas. Areas of the site contained within
overhead power easements or stormwater detention ponds shall not count towards these
calculations, and cannot be considered as common open space or recreation areas;

g. The proposed maintenance and ownership agreements for any streets and common open spaces
not proposed for dedication to the city;

h. The proposed restrictions on the use of the property and proposed restrictive covenants;

i. The proposed minimum building setbacks for front, side, and rear yards, and the proposed
minimum lot size and lot width for each proposed land use, expressed to the nearest square
foot;

j. The proposed minimum lot size and lot width for each proposed land use, expressed to the
nearest square foot;

k. The names and mailing addresses of all adjoining property owners;

l. An architectural pattern guide demonstrating proposed building materials, features, exterior
finishes, windows, doors, colors, and other items affecting exterior appearance, such as fencing.
The guide shall include renderings, elevations, and floor plans of proposed buildings; and

m. Additional relevant data as may be required by the planning commission or the city council.

2. Concept Plan. A detailed conceptual plan prepared by a registered engineer, architect, land surveyor or
landscape architect shall be required for all applications to rezone to the PUD district. The required
concept plan shall include the following information:

a. A survey of the entirety of the subject property, conducted no greater than twenty (20) years
prior to the date of PUD district application completeness. The survey shall depict all property
dimensions with metes and bounds, site acreage, a scale, north arrow and tie in point to a known
location (road intersection/land lot corner, etc.). Additionally, the survey shall provide, for all
adjoining properties, the property owner name(s), tax parcel number, and zoning designation;

b. Site topography with contour intervals no greater than two (2) feet;



DR
AF
T

Page 3 of 7

c. Lakes, ponds, streams, creeks, floodplains, and other waterways. The source(s) of floodplain
data shall also be provided;

d. The proposed subdivision of the site, with precise lot lines, building setbacks, and a lot data table
which provides, at a minimum, the area (expressed to the nearest square foot), width and land
use of each proposed lot.

e. The proposed internal access network, consisting of streets, alleyways, trails, sidewalks, and
other mediums, how ingress and egress to the site will be provided, proposed emergency access
points, off street parking areas and quantities, and road names, and;

f. Stormwater management areas;

3. Administrative Review. of the above identified requirements of the written report and concept plan, as
well as any other requirements of this title, shall be met before the planned development rezoning
request is presented to the planning commission for its review and recommendation. Specific
requirements of the administrative review process are as follows:

a. The city planner or his designee shall be responsible for reviewing the written report and concept
plan, and verifying the completeness of the application; prior to the application being placed
upon the planning commission agenda;

b. The city planner shall periodically prepare, post and distribute a timetable for his review and
verification of the required exhibits;

c. Neither the planning commission, city planner/engineer, nor any other appointed official shall
possess the authority to waive any of the written report or concept plan requirements;

d. An applicant for a rezoning to PUD planned unit development district, may present a written
request to the city council to waive individual requirements of the written report or concept
plan; however, a separate request must be submitted for each requested waiver, and must
include a specific and valid reason as to why the waiver is necessary; economic hardship shall not
constitute or be considered as a valid reason for a waiver request.

G. Exterior architectural sStandards for single family residences. All attached and detached single family
residences constructed within a PUD shall be subject the standards contained herein. These standards serve
to promote consistency and aesthetically pleasing residential development within the City.

1. Exterior finish materials.

a. No less than fifty percent (50%) of the front façade of each residence shall consist of masonry,
brick, stone, wood, or cementitious fiberboard.

b. The façades of each individual residence, except for the front façade, shall be constructed with
water tables of masonry, brick, or stone which extend no less than 24 inches vertically from the
ground below. Each water table shall extend the entire width of the façade.

c. The use of vinyl, aluminum, plastic, and bare metal for exterior siding shall be prohibited.

2. Architectural requirements.

a. All single family residences shall be constructed with a porch, deck, or patio measuring no less
than 36 square feet in area.

b. Architectural projections shall be incorporated to prevent monotonous appearances.

3. Façade variations.

a. Changes in masonry color or other façade materials are required,

b. Changes in window placement and/or composition are required.



DR
AF
T

Page 4 of 7

4. Building dimensions.

a. The minimum heated floor area of a residence shall be consistent with the formally adopted
standards of a given PUD. The minimum heated floor area shall at a minimum be 1,8002,000
square feet for single story dwellings and 2,2002,400 square feet for two story dwellings.

b. No residence shall exceed 35 feet in height. This is not inclusive of basements or subterranean
construction.

c. Detached residential units shall measure no less than 24 32 feet in width.

d. Attached residential units (town houses) shall measure no less than 20 26 feet in width.

e. Buildings containing town houses shall contain a maximum of 6 residential units.

5. Garages.

a. All detached and attached residential units shall be constructed with a garage with a footprint of
no less than 200 square feet. The garage shall be contained within the residence it serves, or be
connected to the subject residence by a covered breezeway no less than four (4) feet in width.

b. The total width of garage doors on the front façade of a detached residence shall not exceed
forty five percent (45%).

c. The total width of garage doors on the front façade of an attached residence shall not exceed
fifty five percent (55%).

d. The requirements herein shall not apply to residences with garage doors at the rear façade, also
known as “rear loaded” residences.

6. Driveway design.

a. Driveways which are partially or wholly located in the front yard of the residence they serve shall
measure no less than 22 feet in length, measured from the front property line to the front of the
garage door, or where the driveway otherwise terminates.

b. No driveway shall have an overall slope greater than twelve percent (12%).

c. The requirements herein shall not apply to residences with garage doors at the rear façade, also
known as “rear loaded” residences.

7. Lot area.

a. A lot which hosts a detached residence shall measure no less than 5,0007,500 square feet in
area.

b. A lot which hosts an attached residence that has a rear loaded garage shall measure no less than
2,000 square feet in area.

c. A lot which hosts an attached residence without a rear loaded garage shall measure no less than
3,000 square feet in area.

H. Resident Amenities. PUD districts shall provide their residents with common amenities which are
proportional to their sizes and densities. Residential amenities positively impact the people they serve and
generally improve quality of life. Complete construction and installation of all approved resident amenities
shall be completed before certificates of occupancy have been issued for fifty percent (50.0%) of the
approved residential units.

1. Amenity types. Acceptable resident amenities are provided below; additionally, each amenity type is
assigned a score.

a. Amphitheater, greater than 1,000 square feet (one point).



DR
AF
T

Page 5 of 7

b. Amphitheater, greater than 2,500 square feet (two points).

c. Basketball courts, regulation size (two points).

d. Children’s active play area, greater than 1,000 square feet (one point).

e. Children’s active play area, greater than 5,000 square feet (two points).

f. Clubhouse, less than 3,000 square feet in heated floor area (two points).

g. Clubhouse, greater than or equal to 3,000 square feet in heated floor area (three points).

h. Community garden, less than 1,800 square feet (one point).

i. Community garden, greater than or equal to 1,800 square feet (one points).

j. Dog park, greater than or equal to 30,000 square feet (one point).

k. Gazebo, greater than 100 square feet (one point).

l. Pickleball courts, regulation size (two points).

m. Swimming pool, less than 1,800 square feet of submerged area (two points). Must be
accompanied by the construction of a clubhouse.

n. Swimming pool, greater than or equal to 1,800 square feet of submerged area (three points).
Must be accompanied by the construction of a clubhouse.

o. Tennis courts, regulation size (two points).

p. Wading/“kiddie” pool, greater than 500 square feet of submerged area (one point).

2. Repeated Amenities. No PUD development approved for fewer than 110 residences may earn points for
installing more than one (1) of the same amenity as provided herein. PUD developments containing a
minimum of 110 residences may install several instances of any given amenity to earn points, provided
that the following conditions are met.

a. No greater than two (2) instances of the same amenity type may be installed for the purpose of
earning points if the development is approved for fewer than 170 residential units.

b. No greater than three (3) instances of the same amenity type may be installed for the purpose
of earning points if the development is approved for a minimum of 170 residential units.

c. Amenities of the same type shall not be placed within 1,000 feet of each other, measured by
the shortest linear distance separating them, for the purpose of earning points.

d. The amenity type is not a gazebo, dog park, nor a wading/“kiddie” pool.

3. Amenity Score. The amenity requirements for a PUD district are dictated by the dwelling county and
overall residential density. The table below provides the minimum number of points (“score”) needed
based on those factors.

a.

Overall Residential
Density

Dwelling Count Minimum Required Amenity Score
(points)

Less than 2.00 dwelling
units per acre.

Fewer than 20 units 1
20 to 49 units 2
50 to 109 units 3
110 to 169 units 5
170 to 249 units 8



DR
AF
T

Page 6 of 7

Greater than 249 units 11

Greater than or equal to
2.00 units per acre.

Fewer than 20 units 1
20 to 49 units 2
50 to 109 units 4
110 to 169 units 7
170 to 249 units 10
Greater than 249 units 13

I. Landscaping and Buffer Requirements. All PUD districts shall be appropriately buffered from adjacent
properties and land uses as provided herein. The buffer shall remain natural and undisturbed, with no
intrusions unless specifically authorized by conditions of zoning, special use, or variance approval. The buffer
shall retain the existing trees and vegetation and may be supplemented with additional plantings to screen
activities, structures, and uses on the property from view. No part of this subsection shall be construed as to
provide an exemption from any ordinance or regulation which pertains to landscaping, buffering, screening,
or trees.

1. If a PUD district abuts an R 100 district, and is approved for the development of multi family dwellings
(apartment houses), duplexes, or other single family attached dwellings, a buffer no less than fifty (50) in
depth shall be required. This buffer shall be installed directly onto the PUD property and extend the
entire width of the abutting R 100 district boundaries in a parallel form.

2. If a PUD district abuts a PSV, RM D, or RM 8 district, and is approved for the development of multi family
dwellings (apartment houses), duplexes, or other single family attached dwellings, a buffer no less than
twenty five (25) in depth shall be required. This buffer shall be installed directly onto the PUD property
and extend the entire width of the abutting PSV, RM D, or RM 8 district boundaries in a parallel form.

3. In developments which are not approved for multi family dwelling construction, sStreet trees shall be
required at a rate of no less than one (1) tree per each residential unit in the development. All rights of
way within the development shall be located within 500 feet of a street tree. Street trees shall measure
of no less than ten (10) feet from each other measured at the time of planting. A variety of tree species
shall be provided; no greater than thirty percent (30%) of street trees shall be of one single species. All
street trees shall be of an acceptable species as established by City development regulations.

J. Conformity with Submitted Application Materials. All development within a PUD district is concept plan
specific and must be conducted in accordance with the approved concept plan. The passage of time shall
have no bearing on the validity of a PUD district and the enforceability of the approved concept plan.

1. All further development on the property shall conform to the standards adopted for the district,
regardless of any change in ownership.

2. The violation of any provision of zoning conditions, as submitted and approved under the provisions in
this title, shall constitute a violation of these regulations.

K. Amendments to Approved Planned Unit Developments. Amendments to the concept plan, land use, layout,
density, or other aspects of an approved PUD shall be proposed to the city planner/engineer prior to formal
consideration. Minor amendments to an approved PUD are limited to increases in lot sizes, decreases in
overall residential density, decrease in total residential lot count, and minor street layout modifications that
would not affect adjacent properties. Any amendment to an approved PUD that is not considered minor, as
provided herein, shall constitute a major amendment.

1. The city planner/engineer is authorized to approve minor amendments to a PUD, without the approval
of the city council.



DR
AF
T

Page 7 of 7

2. Major amendments to an approved PUD shall be approved by the city council. Any applicant for major
amendments to a PUD shall initiate a rezoning application for the subject property, so that it may be
rezoned from the current PUD to the proposed amended PUD. If the rezoning application is approved,
the PUD zoning shall change to that which was approved.



 
ORDINANCE NO. _25-004____ 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF AUBURN 
CODE OF ORDINANCES 

PUD PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
SECTION 17.90.140 

 
 WHEREAS, the City has adopted a comprehensive Zoning Ordinance including Use 
Provisions for a number of zoning districts and classifications intended to create a beneficial mix of 
housing types and price points; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City’s elected officials, Planning Commission and staff have undertaken a 
comprehensive review of the exiting Planned Unit Development District provisions; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission and Mayor and Council have conducted public 
hearings to satisfy the requirements of State law for the advertising, comment, and adoption of this 
Ordinance amendment;  
 
 WHEREAS, the City's professional staff has recommended the approval of this Amendment; 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council find and conclude that the revisions outlined in this 
Ordinance promote sound planning practices consistent with the policies and intent of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Ordinance;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council find and conclude that it is in the best interest of the 
health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the City to adopt the following amendment to the Planned 
Unit Development district requirements; and  
 
  NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF AUBURN HEREBY 
ORDAINS that the City Code Section 17.90.140 be and is deleted, and the amended and restated 
Section 17.90.140 PUD Planned Unit Development District attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is  
approved and adopted. 
 
 The City Administrator and City Clerk are further authorized to correct typographical errors 
in the text of this Ordinance and the existing City Code and to produce and publish a final codified 
version of the City Code with the amendments and revisions outlined herein.  

  



In the event any Court of competent jurisdiction determines that any portion of the foregoing 
amendment is invalid, unconstitutional, or otherwise illegal, such rulings shall not impair the validity 
of the rest and remainder of this amendment.  
 

This Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed.   

 
 
 SO ORDAINED this ___ day of March, 2025. 
 
 
_________________________________ _________________________________ 
Richard E. Roquemore, Mayor  Robert L. Vogel, III, Council Member  
 
 
_________________________________ _________________________________ 
Jamie L. Bradley, Council Member   Taylor J. Sisk, Council Member 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Joshua Rowan, Council Member 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Brooke Haney, City Clerk 



Page 1 of 5  

MAYOR 
Rick E. Roquemore 

 
CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
Michael E. Parks 

CITY COUNCIL 
Robert L. Vogel III 

Taylor J. Sisk 
Jamie L. Bradley 

Joshua Rowan 

 
 
 
 

CITY OF AUBURN 
MAYOR AND COUNCIL 

MEETING IN COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
February 13, 2025 

6:00 PM 
Council Chambers 

1 Auburn Way 
Auburn, GA 30011 

 
 Present: Mayor:                      Richard Roquemore  

Council Member:                   Taylor J. Sisk  
Council Member:                   Jamie L. Bradley  
Council Member:                   Joshua Rowan 
 
City Staff in Attendance: Michael Parks, Marc Pharr, Staci Waters, Brooke Haney, Iris Akridge 
 
Also in Attendance: Jack Wilson 

Mayor Roquemore called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 
Pastor Marshall Clack gave the Invocation. 
Mayor Roquemore gave the pledge. 
 
 
Council Reports and Announcements 
Mayor Roquemore asked for Council Reports and Announcements. Council Member Sisk 
congratulated our Explorers on their competition and asked everyone to pray for Terry England. 
Council Member Jamie Bradley announced that the museum had been opened and thanked all 
the volunteers that helped keep it open. Iris Akridge spoke about the patch work and paving that 
is and will be taking place with the T-SPLOST money. Brooke Haney reminded the citizens 
about the 5K on March 1st and asked if anyone wanted to volunteer to contact her.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
Mayor Roquemore asked for a motion to open the Public Hearing regarding the Statewide Homestead 
Exemption Opt Out 
Motion: Made by Council Member Sisk to open the public hearing. 
Second by Council Member Bradley 
Mayor Roquemore asked for any discussion, there was none. Votes were taken with all members present 
voting yes. 
 
Item 1.: Statewide Homestead Exemption Opt Out 
Mayor Roquemore asked for Jack Wilson, City Attorney, to present the Statewide Homestead Exemption 
Opt Out. 



Page 2 of 5  

Jack Wilson: Presented the Statewide Homestead Exemption Opt Out. 
Mayor Roquemore opened the floor for ten minutes for public comments in favor of the change of the 
Statewide Homestead Exemption. There were none. 
Mayor Roquemore opened the floor for ten minutes for public comments in opposition to the change of the 
Statewide Homestead Exemption. There were none. 
Mayor Roquemore asked for a motion to table the Statewide Homestead Exemption Opt Out until the 
February 27, 2025, meeting. 
Motion: Made by Council Member Sisk to table the Statewide Homestead Exemption Opt Out. 
Second: by Council Member Rowan 
Mayor Roquemore asked for any discussion, there was none. Votes were taken with all 
members present voting yes. 
 
Mayor Roquemore asked for a motion to close the Public Hearing. 
Motion: Made by Council Member Bradley to close the public hearing. 
Second: by Council Member Sisk 
Mayor Roquemore asked for any discussion, there was none. Votes were taken with all members present 
voting yes. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
Citizen Comments on Agenda Items 
Mayor Roquemore asked for any citizen comments for items on tonight’s agenda. There were none.  
 
Mayor Roquemore asked if there were any items to be removed from the consent agenda. Council Member  
Sisk asked to remove item H- Resolution for Statewide Homestead Exemption Opt Out  
 
Mayor Roquemore asked for any discussion, there was none. Votes were taken with all 
members present voting yes. 
 
Item 2: Consent Agenda 
             a. Council Business Meeting Minutes- January 9, 2025 
             b. Council Workshop Meeting Minutes- January 23, 2025  
             c. Council Special Called Meeting Minutes- February 4, 2025 
             d. Weapon Transition  
             e. Arista Billing 
             f. Generac Extended Warranty 
             g. Candidate Qualifying Date and Fees for 2025 Election Cycle 
             h. Resolution for Statewide Homestead Exemption Opt Out 
 
Mayor Roquemore asked for a motion to approve the remainder of the consent agenda.  
Motion: Made by Council Member Sisk to approve the remainder of the consent agenda 
Second: by Council Member Rowan 
Mayor Roquemore asked for any discussion, there was none. Votes were taken with all 
members present voting yes. 
 
 
VOTING ITEMS 
Item 3: ESG Engineering 
Iris Akridge Presented 
Mayor Roquemore asked for a motion to approve the ESG Engineering Contract 
Motion: Made by Council Member Rowan approve the ESG Engineering Contract 
Second: Made by Council Member Bradley 
Mayor Roquemore asked for any discussion, there was none. Votes were taken with all 
members present voting yes. 



Page 3 of 5  

 
Item 4: Council Meeting Recordings 
Michael Parks Presented 
Council Member Bradley asked Jack if the Video Recordings were for the Council Meetings only. 
Council Member Rowan asked if the Video Recording will only be on You Tube. He also asked if it would start next 
Council Meeting.  
Mayor Roquemore asked for a motion to approve the Council Meeting Recordings 
Motion: Made by Council Member Rowan approve the ESG Engineering Contract 
Second: Made by Council Member Sisk 
Mayor Roquemore asked if there was any discussion; there was none. Vote was taken Council 
Member Bradley voting no and Council Member Sisk and Rowan voting yes. 
 
Citizen Comments 
Mayor Roquemore asked for any citizen comments. There were none. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT: Mayor Roquemore asked for a motion to adjourn. 
Motion: Made by Council Member Bradley to adjourn. 
Second: By Council Member Rowan. 
Mayor Roquemore asked for any discussion. There was none. Votes were taken with all members present 
voting yes. Meeting adjourned. 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
Read and approved this ___________ Day of March 2025 
  
Attest: 
 
 
 ___________________________________________________ 
 Mayor Richard E. Roquemore



MAYOR                                                          CITY COUNCIL 
Rick E. Roquemore                               Robert L. Vogel III 

Taylor J. Sisk 
CITY ADMINISTRATOR                             Jamie l. Bradley 
Michael Parks                                                  Joshua Rowan 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP MEETING 
February 27, 2025 

6:00 PM 
Council Chambers  

1 Auburn Way 
Auburn, GA 30011 

 
             Present: Mayor:  Richard Roquemore  
               Council Member:   Taylor J. Sisk 
               Council Member:  Jamie L. Bradley 
                          Council Member: Joshua Rowan 
                          Member Absent: Robert L. Vogel. III 

 
City Staff in Attendance: Michael Parks, Staci Waters, Brooke Haney, Marc Pharr 
Also in Attendance: Jack Wilson 
 
Mayor Roquemore called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 
 
SWEARING IN FOR MAYOR PRO TEMPORE 
 
WORKSHOP ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
 
Council Reports and Announcements 
Mayor Roquemore asked for Council Reports and Announcements. 
Staci Waters gave a report on the past Car Show, the upcoming 5K and to look at Facebook for 
the road closures, and the Upcoming Yard Sale.   
 
Item 1: Planning Commission Reports 
Sarah McQuade Presented 
Placed on March 13, 2025, Council Business Agenda 
Item 2: Perry Rainy Center Rental Fees 
Michael Parks Presented 
Placed on March 13, 2025, Council Business Agenda 
 



Item 3: Republic Services Rate (Information Only) 
Michael Parks Presented 
Item 4: Website Partnership Plan 
Michel Parks Presented 
Placed on March 13, 2025, Council Business Agenda 
Item 5: Sanitary Sewer Capacity Fees Ordinance 
Michael Parks Presented 
Placed on March 13, 2025, Council Business Agenda 
 
Mayor Roquemore asked for Citizen Comments and there were none.  
 
VOTING ITEMS 
Item 1: Statewide Homestead Exemption Opt Out 
Mayor Roquemore asked for a motion to approve the Resolution for opting out of the Statewide 
Homestead Exemption under HB-581. 
Motion: Made by Council Member Rowan 
Second: by Council Member Sisk 
Mayor Roquemore asked for any discussion, Council Member Sisk asked if it would affect the 
Seniors. Votes were taken with all members present voting yes.  
 
Item 2: Amend City Charter 5.16 Terms of Office 
Mayor Roquemore asked for a motion to approve the Ordinance to Amend City Charter 5.16 
Terms of Office as presented by Staff. 
Motion: Made by Council Member Rowan 
Second: by Council Member Sisk 
Mayor Roquemore asked for any discussion, Council Member Sisk asked if it would affect the 
Seniors. Votes were taken with all members present voting yes.  
 
Mayor Roquemore asked if there were any citizen comments.  
Rob Yoe, 1531 Wynfield Dr, Auburn, GA 30011, Commented on the Planning And Zoning 
Commission report.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Read and approved this  Day of March 2025 Attest: 
 
 

 
  Mayor Richard E. Roquemore 



AGENDA ITEM:  

TO: 

FM:  

DATE: 

Mayor and Council 

Michael Parks 
City Administrator 

, 2025 

PURPOSE: To consider increasing prices of Perry Rainey Center Rental. 

BACKGROUND: Rental rates for event venues have risen, along with significant 
increases in associated costs such as utilities, cleaning, and inventory. To ensure 
these expenses are adequately covered, we believe our rates should be adjusted to 
align more closely with those of similar local venues. 

RECOMMENDATION: To approve the rental rates for the Perry Rainey Center as 
presented by staff. 

FUNDING: N/A 

MAYOR 
Rick E. Roquemore 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
Michael E. Parks 

CITY COUNCIL 
Robert L. Vogel III 

          Taylor J. Sisk 
Jamie L. Bradley 

Joshua Rowan 









AGENDA ITEM:  

TO: 

FROM:  

DATE: 

Mayor and Council 

Michael Parks 
City Administrator 

 , 202  

PURPOSE: To renew the contract with our website hosting and maintenance provider. 

BACKGROUND: Following the city's decision to change managed IT service providers 
from VC3, Auburn now needs a dedicated partner for website design and hosting. 
Previously, these services were bundled, but the shift in IT providers necessitates a 
focused approach to website management. Securing a new website partner is essential 
for several key reasons: First, ongoing maintenance, including content updates, security 
patches, and technical improvements, is critical for a functional and secure website. 
Second, specialized expertise in web development, server management, and SEO is 
required to ensure optimal performance and visibility. Third, website security is 
paramount, and a dedicated provider will implement measures to protect against cyber 
threats. Fourth, accessibility compliance is crucial for inclusivity, ensuring all citizens 
can access city information. Fifth, the website needs to be scalable to accommodate 
future growth and changing needs. Finally, choosing a dedicated partner allows the city 
to strategically align its website with its specific communication goals and target 
audience, ensuring its online presence effectively serves the community. 

RECOMMENDATION: The City of Auburn, Georgia should maintain its relationship 
with VC3 for website design and support due to VC3's expertise in creating and 
maintaining accessible, responsive websites using the Drupal CMS. This continued 
partnership will result in a full website redesign, improving the site's functionality and 
user experience for all Auburn citizens. Leveraging VC3's existing knowledge of the city's 
needs and their proficiency with Drupal ensures a smoother, more efficient redesign 
process and ongoing support for the city's online presence. 

MAYOR 
Rick E. Roquemore 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
Michael E. Parks 

CITY COUNCIL 
Robert L. Vogel III 

          Taylor J. Sisk 
Jamie L. Bradley 

Joshua Rowan 



City of Auburn, GA - Website Partnership Plan

https://www.vc3.com/7XLfWFGUcJ

Website Partnership Plan

Order

City of Auburn, GA 

1 Auburn Way

Auburn, Georgia 30011

United States

M

m @cityofauburn-ga.org 

7709634002 

VC3

1301 Gervais St.

Suite 1800

Columbia, SC 29201

United States

Prepared by: Kylie Cantanzarite

Business Account Manager

kylie.cantanzarite@vc3.com

Products & Services

PRODUCTS & SERVICES QUANTITY UNIT PRICE PRICE

Website Partnership Plan

Implementation

1 $7,000.00 $7,000.00



City of Auburn, GA - Website Partnership Plan

https://www.vc3.com/7XLfWFGUcJ

Website Partnership Plan 1 $550.00  / month $550.00 / month for 4 years

SUMMARY

Monthly subtotal

$550.00

One-time subtotal

$7,000.00

Comments

Prices shown above are valid for 30 days from date of Order. 

Monthly Recurring Services will begin 12/1/2024, taking the place of the previous IT in a Box agreement.

The existing website will be hosted for no more than twelve (12) months on the current platform and must be migrated to the new

platform in this timeframe.

This Order is entered into as of January 20, 2025 between VC3 Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Company") and City of Auburn, GA

("Client")

Order Governed by the Master Agreement

Company and Client. The Master Agreement is available at https://www.vc3.com/terms-of-service/ and is incorporated in full into and

made a part of this Order by this reference. The Client may also request a copy of the Master Agreement by submitting an email

request to betterit@vc3.com

Agreement.

Deliverables & Services

Definitions

Products & Services



City of Auburn, GA - Website Partnership Plan

https://www.vc3.com/7XLfWFGUcJ

 

Website Development Services

1. Discovery Phase: Work with the client to gather user insight on the state of the Client Website.

2. 

3. Development Phase: Implement the design into a new VC3 Drupal CMS application.

4. Content Migration Phase: Work with the client to determine what and how much content on the Client Website will be migrated

into the Drupal website.

5. 

Website Hosting Services

1. Company will host Client website within Company infrastructure. 

Website Partnership Plan Services

1. Unlimited Support: For questions, comments, issues, or assistance with the Client Website, the client will not be charged an

hourly rate.  

1. Support services under this order are available exclusively during business hours: Monday through Friday, excluding

U.S. and Canadian public holidays, from 9:00 AM ET to 5:00 PM ET.

2. Any requests or issues submitted outside of these hours will be addressed on the following business day.

2. Free Redesign: Work with the client every 4 years in redesigning the Drupal

3. Website (see: Website Development Services).

4. Annual Site Review: Upon client request, work with the client for an in-depth review of the Drupal Website. Limit 1 per 12

months.

5. Supplemental Training: Upon client request, provide the client with 1 remote training session once per 12 months. 

Proactive Services

1. Google Analytics: Ensure an active connection and accessible user interface for analytics of the Drupal Website.

2. Real Time Report: Ensure active reporting of the Drupal Website with an accessible user interface.

3. Backup Management: Conduct regular backups for the Drupal Website.

4. Patch Management: Perform maintenance activities on the Drupal Website and its environment. 

Exclusions

Items other than those included above are expressly excluded from the Services provided within this Order. The following exclusions

and clarifications are intended to clarify the scope of services for this order:

1. Excluded services are those related to functionality upgrades, such as those required to evaluate, specify, purchase, and

implement client system or server upgrades such as operating systems, Microsoft Office suite software unless included with a

specific Company product, third party software deployments or upgrades, or equipment related to these services whose scope

exceeds that defined above. Company will provide these services to the client on a Time & Materials Order basis at the rates

outlined in the Master Agreement. If modification or replacement of a hardware device or component is required, client is

responsible for all hardware and hardware vendor services costs, excluding Company owned hardware explicitly provided

through this Order.

2. When client requests services by Company not explicitly included in this agreement, they are agreeing to invoicing of said

services per the terms outlined in the Master Agreement. For all services which incur additional hourly fees, Company will

notify the client that these services are outside the scope of this work order and will receive approval from client prior to

rendering these additional services.

3. Software and licensing purchased by the client directly from a third-party vendor are not included as a part of services to be

supported.

4. Cybersecurity event or incident response activities or remediation efforts exceeding eight (8) hours of technician, engineer or



City of Auburn, GA - Website Partnership Plan

https://www.vc3.com/7XLfWFGUcJ

project management time.

5. Should deficiencies, malware infections, or critical vulnerabilities be discovered during the deployment of services, Company

provide client with options to correct the deficiencies. Initial remediation hours will be billed outside of this Order unless

otherwise explicitly stated in this Order.

6. Third-party applications, connections, and functionality such as Facebook, Twitter, and Google Analytics, are prone to receive

unexpected downtime unbeknownst to Company.  

7. The Unlimited Support service does not include posting content on behalf of the client, nor functionality upgrades. Company

will provide these services to the client upon request and approval of a Time & Materials work order at the rates outlined in the

Master Agreement. 

8. Excluded services are those related to functionality upgrades. Company will provide these services to Client on a Time &

Materials Order basis at the rates outlined in the Master Agreement. 

Assumptions

1. The Order will not become effective unless and until it is agreed upon and signed by the Client and Company.

2. Company reserves the right, at its discretion, to pass onto the client any changes to obligations, such as terms or pricing

imposed on Company by a given vendor, for an offering that is currently resold to the client at any time during the current

agreement term.

3. Company will make reasonable efforts to resolve all issues remotely prior to dispatching an engineer onsite. Travel hours

incurred will be invoiced according to the Master Agreement.

4. The items defined in this Order are designed to enhance the security of the customer environment. There is no guarantee that

any security measure will prevent a data breach, infection, or other cyber security incident. 

5. Support services under this order are available exclusively during business hours: Monday through Friday, excluding U.S. and

Canadian public holidays, from 9:00 AM ET to 5:00 PM ET.

6. Any requests or issues submitted outside of these hours will be addressed on the following business day. 

Client Responsibilities

1. Client will provide a primary point of contact for Company to work with on all services provided in this Order.

2. Client must identify one individual as the Project Communication Resource, which will act as the head point of contact for

Client during the life of the project. This resource will be responsible for making project decisions and approving work.  While

Client may have multiple resources providing feedback on the project, only one resource can be identified as the Project

Communication Resource.

3. Once approval has been given by the Project Communication Resource for each design during the Design Phase of the

project, development will begin. Any changes requested to a design after this approval is given are not included and may incur

additional charges.  

4. Client will determine a specific Go Live date on when their Drupal Website becomes their main website.

5. 

6. Client will agree to a “content freeze” on the Client Website sometime between the Training and Go Live phases.

7. Client is responsible for authorizing access for Company to sites that are owned / controlled by third parties. 

8. Client will maintain both hardware and software maintenance agreements with the source Vendor whenever possible to allow

for ongoing access to security updates and to provide quick replacement of non-functioning components.

9. Client is responsible for procurement and ownership of all licenses, maintenance, and vendor support agreements required for

support of their third-party applications, excluding the Microsoft licensing explicitly included in the per seat packages identified

in Products & Services section.

10. Third party tool licensing may be required for additional cost.

Invoicing

1. Recurring services, if included, shall be provided for term indicated in Products & Services, starting from the date of the first



City of Auburn, GA - Website Partnership Plan

https://www.vc3.com/7XLfWFGUcJ

recurring invoice (Effective Services Start Date), unless terminated in accordance with the terms of this Order or the Master

Agreement.

2. Effective Services Start Date is defined as the first day of the first month following approval of the home page design during

the Design phase of the project.

3. Company will invoice the Client a pro-rated monthly fee based on any partial month of service plus the first full month of

service on the Effective Services Start Date. All subsequent service months will be invoiced at the start of the month in which

services are to be rendered. Services activated after the first of month may be invoiced on a pro rata basis the following

month. All One-Time Fees will be invoiced to Client upon signature of this Order.

4. Any taxes related to services purchased or licensed pursuant to this Order shall be paid by Client or Client shall present an

exemption certificate acceptable to the taxing authorities. Applicable taxes and freight charges shall be billed as a separate

item on the invoice.

5. Unit rates will automatically increase annually on the anniversary of the Effective Services Start Date equivalent to the CPI

change for All Urban Consumers or by 4.00%, whichever is higher.

6. The terms of this Order will automatically renew for an additional term of equivalent length to the current active term unless

notice of termination is provided by either party no fewer than 90 calendar days prior to expiration of the current active term.

7.

excess of the amount stated in this Order above, Company will increase the monthly service fee amount by the corresponding

unit price stated above.

8. At no time during the term of this Order will the fees payable under this Order (i.e. the monthly subtotal amount) drop below

seventy-five percent (75%) of the initially agreed upon monthly subtotal stated above.

9. In the event of the early termination of the Agreement in accordance with Section 3.3 of the Master Agreement, Client agrees

that the initially agreed upon monthly subtotal stated above shall be used for calculating fees due for the remaining term of the

Agreement.

10. Additional services may be added at any time during the life of this Order at the unit price listed above.

Signature

Before you sign this quote, an email must be sent to you to verify your identity. Find your profile below to request a

verification email.

M

m @cityofauburn-ga.org

Matt Cosper

matt.cosper@vc3.com

Verify to sign

Verify to sign

 Verify to sign

 Verify to sign



City of Auburn, GA - Website Partnership Plan

https://www.vc3.com/7XLfWFGUcJ

DownloadDownload



AGENDA ITEM:  

TO: 

FM:  

DATE: 

Mayor and Council 

Michael Parks 
City Administrator 

, 2025 

PURPOSE: To approve the Sanitary Sewer Capacity Fees Ordinance for the City of 
Auburn. 

BACKGROUND: The city has invested in improving the sanitary sewer system within the 
City limits by participating with private developers in pump station and sewer line 
improvements.  In exchange for the City’s investment, it obtained the right to allocate and 
sell part of the capacity created.  The proposed ordinance clarifies the fees due for such 
capacity and the timing of payment.  

RECOMMENDATION: To approve Ordinance 25-002 as presented by staff. 

FUNDING: N/A 

MAYOR 
Rick E. Roquemore 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
Michael E. Parks 

CITY COUNCIL 
Robert L. Vogel III 

          Taylor J. Sisk 
Jamie L. Bradley 

Joshua Rowan 



ORDINANCE NO. ___25-002________ 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND 
THE CITY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

 TO PROVIDE FOR SANITARY SEWER CAPACITY FEES 
 

WHEREAS, the City has entered into an Agreement with Barrow County under 
which the City contributed public funds to the creation of certain sanitary sewer 
infrastructure including the Sixth Street Lift Station; and  

 
WHEREAS, in consideration for the City’s contributory payments for the 

enhancements and upgrades to the Sixth Street Lift Station, the Barrow County has granted 
the City control of  certain limited sanitary sewer capacity in and around the City limits for 
projects using the Lift Station; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City has been authorized by virtue of its Agreement to collect a 

Sewer Infrastructure Recovery Fee or Capacity Fee to recover the City’s initial investment 
in infrastructure improvements for the Sixth Street Lift Station as  allocates the capacity 
available; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has reviewed the costs expended for such improvements and 

determined the amounts due from each subsequent user so that each such user pays its 
proportionate share of such improvement costs advanced by the City; and  

 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the health, safety and welfare of the citizens 

of the City to adopt this Ordinance to provide for the collection of those fees and the 
assignment of Sanitary Sewer Capacity allocated to the City; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF AUBURN HEREBY 

ORDAINS that the following Section 16.58.010 Sewer Infrastructure Recovery/Capacity 
Fee is adopted as follows: 

 
 Section 16.58.010  Sewer Infrastructure Recovery/Capacity Fee. The City 
Administrator and the Director of Public Works are authorized to assign and allocate 
Sanitary Sewer Capacity controlled by the City upon the payment of the sum of 
$____________ per equivalent residential unit (ERU) to the City for sanitary sewer located 
within the City limits and allocated to the City.  No permits for development shall be issued 
until the Infrastructure Recovery/Capacity Fee is paid by the applicant or developer.  The 
fee represents the actual per unit costs expended by the City in creating the infrastructure 
improvements and costs necessary to make the sewer capacity available.  Applications for 
such capacity shall be processed in the order received.   
 
 This Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon its adoption by the Council. 
All other and further Ordinances and parts of Ordinances shall remain in full force and 
effect. 



- 2 - 
 

 
If any portion of this Ordinance is determined by a Court of competent jurisdiction 

to be invalid or unenforceable, the rest and remainder of this Ordinance shall continue in 
full force and effect.  

 
 

SO ORDAINED, this ____ day of March, 2025. 
 
 
    
Richard E. Roquemore, Mayor Taylor J. Sisk, Council Member  
 
    
Robert L. Vogel, III Council Member  Jamie L. Bradley, Council Member  
 
_______________________________ 
Joshua Rowan, Council Member 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Brooke Haney, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 

 



AGENDA ITEM:  

TO: 

FM:  

DATE: 

Mayor and Council 

Michael Parks 
City Administrator 

, 2025 

PURPOSE: To amend the City Charter Section 5.16, revising the terms of office for 
Mayor and Council. 

BACKGROUND: Commencing with the election after the start of the term of Council 
beginning January 1, 2026, and thereafter, no Council member elected or qualified for three 
consecutive terms shall be eligible for the next succeeding term based upon previous 
elective service. 

Commencing with the election after the start of the term of Council beginning 
January 1, 2026, and thereafter, no Mayor elected or qualified for three consecutive terms 
shall be eligible for the next succeeding term based upon previous elective service. The 
limitation of two consecutive terms shall not overlap or run concurrent between being a 
Council member position and a Mayor as the term limit period is to the particular elected 
position and are not to be combined. 

RECOMMENDATION: To approve the City Charter Section 5.16 as presented by staff. 

FUNDING: N/A 

MAYOR 
Rick E. Roquemore 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
Michael E. Parks 

CITY COUNCIL 
Robert L. Vogel III 

          Taylor J. Sisk 
Jamie L. Bradley 

Joshua Rowan 



ORDINANCE NO. 25-003 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND  
THE CITY OF AUBURN CHARTER  
SECTION 5.16 TERMS OF OFFICE 

 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF AUBURN CHARTER 

ORIGINALLY APPROVED MARCH 14, 1949 (GA.L 1949, P. 807) AS AMENDED,  
TO REPEAL CONFLICTING LAWS AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 
 WHEREAS, the City has reviewed its Charter provisions relating to the election and 
service of the Mayor and City Council members and determined that it is in the best interest 
of the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the City to revise the terms of office for 
which the Mayor and City Council members may be elected;  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF AUBURN HEREBY 
ORDAINS that the City Charter be amended as follows:  
  

1. 
 
 The following Section 5.16--Terms of Office is adopted as follows: 
 
Section 5.16  Terms of Office 
 
 Commencing with the election after the start of the term of Council beginning 
January 1, 2026, and thereafter, no Council member elected or qualified for three 
consecutive terms shall be eligible for the next succeeding term based upon previous 
elective service. 
  
 Commencing with the election after the start of the term of Council beginning 
January 1, 2026 and thereafter, no Mayor elected or qualified for three consecutive terms 
shall be eligible for the next succeeding term based upon previous elective service. The 
limitation of two consecutive terms shall not overlap or run concurrent between being a 
Council member position and a Mayor as the term limit period is to the particular elected 
position and are not to be combined. 
 

2. 
 

In the event any Court of competent jurisdiction determines that any of the foregoing 
amendments are unconstitutional or otherwise illegal, such rulings shall not impair the validity 
of the rest and remainder of this Charter.  
 

3. 
 

All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed.   



- 2 - 
 

 
4. 

 
This Amendment has been adopted at two regular consecutive meetings, pursuant to 

O.C.G.A. § 36-35-3(b).   
 
     5. 
 
This Amendment shall be effective commencing with the election after the start of 

the Council term beginning January 1, 2026. 
 
 IT IS SO ORDAINED this ___ day of ______________, 2025. 

 
 
_________________________________ _________________________________  
Richard E. Roquemore, Mayor  Robert L. Vogel, III, Council Member  
 
 
 
_________________________________   
Jamie L. Bradley, Council Member   Taylor J. Sisk, Council Member 
 
 
 
  
Joshua Rowan, Council Member 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Brooke Haney, City Clerk 
 
 



AGENDA ITEM: G 

TO: Mayor and Council 

FROM:  Sarah McQuade 
City Planner  

DATE: March 13, 2025 

PURPOSE:  RZ-24-0000 

BACKGROUND:  

The following three final plats have been reviewed and determined to be in 
compliance with Sec. 16.20.070 – Approval of Final Subdivision Plat. As such, 
they are ready to be signed by the mayor. 

FP-2001 Schmit + Associates requests consideration of final plat approval
for Harmony Phase 2C for the development of 14 single-family lots in a
CCD: City Center District.

The Planning & Zoning Commission voted to recommend approval
of this item.

FP-2002 Clayton Properties Group, Inc. d.b.a. Chafin Land Development &
Hill Shop Road, LLC, requests consideration of final plat approval for
Kentmere Subdivision for the development of 386 single-family lots in a
PSV: Planned Suburban Village district.

The Planning & Zoning Commission voted to recommend approval
of this item.

FP-2003 Clayton Properties Group, Inc. d.b.a. Chafin Land Development,
requests consideration of final plat approval for Summerlin Subdivision
Phase One for the development of 116 single-family lots in a PSV: Planned
Suburban Village district.
The Planning & Zoning Commission voted to recommend approval of this 
item.

FUNDING: 
N/A 

MAYOR 
Rick E. Roquemore 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
Michael E. Parks 

CITY COUNCIL 
Robert L. Vogel III 

          Taylor J. Sisk 
Jamie L. Bradley 

Joshua Rowan 



AGENDA ITEM:  

TO: Mayor and Council 

FROM:  Sarah McQuade 
City Planner  

DATE: March 7, 2025 

PURPOSE: Proposed amendment to the City’s Zoning Ordinance, Section 
17.90.140, PUD: Planned Unit Development District 

BACKGROUND: At the request of the Mayor and City Council of Auburn, a series of 
amendments have been proposed to the text of City of Auburn Zoning Ordinance, Section 
17.90.140, which governs the PUD: Planned unit development district. The text 
amendments proposed to alter the content of all subsections and create new ones as 
indicated below. 

The contents of the proposed amendment and restructuring of Sec. 17.90.140 are 
summarized below: 

A. Intent – Reduce the scope of the PUD from large-scale, innovative, mixed-use
development to strictly residential land uses compatible with existing
development patterns.

B. Purpose – Provides for flexible arrangements of residences, open spaces, and
amenities in a master-planned fashion.

C. Establishment of a PUD district – PUD sites shall be compatible with the
surrounding area, with room for exceptions from size, setback, frontage, density,
and other use standards.

D. Minimum Standards and Requirements – Increase minimum overall residential
density from 2.2 dwelling units per acre (du/acre) up to 3.0 du/acre. Reduce the
minimum contiguous area for a PUD from 50 acres down to 10 acres. More
specific requirements previously housed here have been relocated.

E. Permitted Uses – Expand upon this section by providing explicitly permitted
residential land use types including: single-family detached, single-family
attached, and two-family (duplexes).

MAYOR 
Rick E. Roquemore 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
Michael E. Parks 

CITY COUNCIL 
Robert L. Vogel III 

          Taylor J. Sisk 
Jamie L. Bradley 

Joshua Rowan 



F. Required Reports and Plans – Provide additional and more specific information 
on what’s required for a PUD submittal. New conceptual plan requirements at this 
stage include building setbacks, minimum lot dimensions, and an architectural 
pattern guide.  

G. Exterior architectural standards for single-family residences – New content that 
governs exterior finish materials, architectural requirements, façade variations, 
building dimension, garages, driveways, and more. These standards are intended 
to promote development consistency and aesthetics. 

H. Resident Amenities – Fresh requirements for PUDs directly correlate resident 
amenity requirements to development size. Amenity types, including swimming 
pools, dog parks, and pickleball courts, have been assigned point values that count 
towards a given minimum amenity score. 

I.  Landscaping and Buffer Requirements – Ensures PUD development and abutting 
residential sites are buffered appropriately from one another, without disturbing 
existing Code requirements.  

J. Conformity with Submitted Application Materials – The development shall be in 
accordance with PUD approval. 

K. Amendments to Approved Planned Unit Developments – Minor and major 
amendments to approved PUDs are clearly defined, along with procedures for 
said amendments. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: To approve the proposed amendment as 
presented. 
 
FUNDING:  
N/A 
 



 
ORDINANCE NO. _25-004____ 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF AUBURN 
CODE OF ORDINANCES 

PUD PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
SECTION 17.90.140 

 
 WHEREAS, the City has adopted a comprehensive Zoning Ordinance including Use 
Provisions for a number of zoning districts and classifications intended to create a beneficial mix of 
housing types and price points; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City’s elected officials, Planning Commission and staff have undertaken a 
comprehensive review of the exiting Planned Unit Development District provisions; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission and Mayor and Council have conducted public 
hearings to satisfy the requirements of State law for the advertising, comment, and adoption of this 
Ordinance amendment;  
 
 WHEREAS, the City's professional staff has recommended the approval of this Amendment; 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council find and conclude that the revisions outlined in this 
Ordinance promote sound planning practices consistent with the policies and intent of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Ordinance;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council find and conclude that it is in the best interest of the 
health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the City to adopt the following amendment to the Planned 
Unit Development district requirements; and  
 
  NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF AUBURN HEREBY 
ORDAINS that the City Code Section 17.90.140 be and is deleted, and the amended and restated 
Section 17.90.140 PUD Planned Unit Development District attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is  
approved and adopted. 
 
 The City Administrator and City Clerk are further authorized to correct typographical errors 
in the text of this Ordinance and the existing City Code and to produce and publish a final codified 
version of the City Code with the amendments and revisions outlined herein.  

  



In the event any Court of competent jurisdiction determines that any portion of the foregoing 
amendment is invalid, unconstitutional, or otherwise illegal, such rulings shall not impair the validity 
of the rest and remainder of this amendment.  
 

This Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby repealed.   

 
 
 SO ORDAINED this ___ day of March, 2025. 
 
 
_________________________________ _________________________________ 
Richard E. Roquemore, Mayor  Robert L. Vogel, III, Council Member  
 
 
_________________________________ _________________________________ 
Jamie L. Bradley, Council Member   Taylor J. Sisk, Council Member 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Joshua Rowan, Council Member 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Brooke Haney, City Clerk 



DR
AF
T

Page 1 of 7

17.90.140 PUD planned unit development district.

A. Intent. The intent of a planned unit development is to foster innovative developments that provide an
innovative mix of residential land uses and development patterns which complement the existing fabric of
Auburn, provide new development compatible with existing developments and patterns, and are supportive
of the comprehensive plan.

B. Purpose. This district encourages flexible placement, arrangement and orientation of residential structures,
active open spaces, and resident focused amenities. A planned unit development enables unique land
development that may be constrained in other established zoning districts through careful site master
planning.

C. Establishment of a PUD district. An area may be considered for rezoning to PUD if any one of the following
conditions exists:

1. The characteristics of the specific concept plan and uses proposed for the subject property would only
be compatible with the surrounding area if the development were limited to those plans and uses as
submitted;

2. Separate land uses, which would not otherwise be permitted to locate within the same zoning district,
are proposed for development on one or more adjacent parcels under single ownership;

3. Exceptions or variation from the size, setback, frontage, density, uses or other standards which are
required in the conventional zoning districts are being proposed as a part of a planned development.

D. Minimum Standards and Requirements. All proposed PUD planned unit development district applications
shall conform to all of the following requirements:

1. The maximum density shall not exceed three (3.0) dwelling units per gross acre.

2. The site shall abut public streets for a distance of at least one hundred (100) linear feet.

3. A registered engineer, architect, land surveyor or landscape architect shall prepare the plans required
for inclusion in an application. The plans shall have their official registration seal.

4. Sidewalks shall be required along both sides of all streets within a PUD. The construction standard of
the required sidewalks are given in the city development regulations; however, the minimum width of
all sidewalk along streets shall be five (5.0) feet.

6. The site proposed for a PUD classification shall have a contiguous area of not less than ten (10) acres.

E. Permitted Uses.

1. Any use allowable inherently in a conventional zoning district in this title may be proposed for
inclusion in a PUD planned unit development district. Each proposed use should be consistent in
application with the intent and purpose of the conventional zoning districts in which it is allowed. Only
the specific uses proposed in an application and approved shall be allowed in the district. Any addition
of uses, change of plans, or increase in size or density shall require a separate amendment to the
original approved PUD planned unit development district and shall follow the same administrative
process as any other amendment. Initial approval of a PUD planned unit development district by the
city does not mean that subsequent amendments to that planned unit development carry any
requirement to be approved by the city council for revision to the plan. Unless otherwise stated in this
section, the development standards and land uses which are presented with an application for
amendment shall, if approved, become the standards for the subject property and as such shall
become a part of these zoning regulations.

2. A PUD shall provide primarily single family residential land uses. Where appropriate, a mixture of
single and two family and multi family residential land uses, as provided below, may be incorporated
into a single PUD project.



DR
AF
T

Page 2 of 7

a. Residential; single family detached.

b. Residential; single family attached (town houses).

b.c. Residential; two family (duplexes),

c. Residential; multi family (apartment homes).

F. Required Reports and Plans. At the time a site is designated as a PUD district, the enumerated uses of the
zoning district of origin shall be replaced by the contents of the approved PUD. Every application for PUD
district zoning shall include all the elements as provided in this subsection. No application for rezoning to the
PUD district shall be deemed complete or scheduled for hearing until all required elements are included.

1. Letter of Intent. A letter of intent also known as a narrative statement, shall be provided which conveys
the following:

a. General description and location of the site;

b. The physical and socio economic reasons as to why the uses proposed in the planned
development would provide a better overall use of this property over the current zoning;

c. The proposed provision of utilities, including water, sewer, and drainage facilities;

d. The proposed methods for protection and buffering of abutting properties;

e. The proposed number of residential units and overall residential density (dwelling units per acre);

f. The area of land, expressed to the nearest square foot and as a percentage of the overall site, to
be set aside as common open space or recreational areas. Areas of the site contained within
overhead power easements or stormwater detention ponds shall not count towards these
calculations, and cannot be considered as common open space or recreation areas;

g. The proposed maintenance and ownership agreements for any streets and common open spaces
not proposed for dedication to the city;

h. The proposed restrictions on the use of the property and proposed restrictive covenants;

i. The proposed minimum building setbacks for front, side, and rear yards, and the proposed
minimum lot size and lot width for each proposed land use, expressed to the nearest square
foot;

j. The proposed minimum lot size and lot width for each proposed land use, expressed to the
nearest square foot;

k. The names and mailing addresses of all adjoining property owners;

l. An architectural pattern guide demonstrating proposed building materials, features, exterior
finishes, windows, doors, colors, and other items affecting exterior appearance, such as fencing.
The guide shall include renderings, elevations, and floor plans of proposed buildings; and

m. Additional relevant data as may be required by the planning commission or the city council.

2. Concept Plan. A detailed conceptual plan prepared by a registered engineer, architect, land surveyor or
landscape architect shall be required for all applications to rezone to the PUD district. The required
concept plan shall include the following information:

a. A survey of the entirety of the subject property, conducted no greater than twenty (20) years
prior to the date of PUD district application completeness. The survey shall depict all property
dimensions with metes and bounds, site acreage, a scale, north arrow and tie in point to a known
location (road intersection/land lot corner, etc.). Additionally, the survey shall provide, for all
adjoining properties, the property owner name(s), tax parcel number, and zoning designation;

b. Site topography with contour intervals no greater than two (2) feet;



DR
AF
T

Page 3 of 7

c. Lakes, ponds, streams, creeks, floodplains, and other waterways. The source(s) of floodplain
data shall also be provided;

d. The proposed subdivision of the site, with precise lot lines, building setbacks, and a lot data table
which provides, at a minimum, the area (expressed to the nearest square foot), width and land
use of each proposed lot.

e. The proposed internal access network, consisting of streets, alleyways, trails, sidewalks, and
other mediums, how ingress and egress to the site will be provided, proposed emergency access
points, off street parking areas and quantities, and road names, and;

f. Stormwater management areas;

3. Administrative Review. of the above identified requirements of the written report and concept plan, as
well as any other requirements of this title, shall be met before the planned development rezoning
request is presented to the planning commission for its review and recommendation. Specific
requirements of the administrative review process are as follows:

a. The city planner or his designee shall be responsible for reviewing the written report and concept
plan, and verifying the completeness of the application; prior to the application being placed
upon the planning commission agenda;

b. The city planner shall periodically prepare, post and distribute a timetable for his review and
verification of the required exhibits;

c. Neither the planning commission, city planner/engineer, nor any other appointed official shall
possess the authority to waive any of the written report or concept plan requirements;

d. An applicant for a rezoning to PUD planned unit development district, may present a written
request to the city council to waive individual requirements of the written report or concept
plan; however, a separate request must be submitted for each requested waiver, and must
include a specific and valid reason as to why the waiver is necessary; economic hardship shall not
constitute or be considered as a valid reason for a waiver request.

G. Exterior architectural sStandards for single family residences. All attached and detached single family
residences constructed within a PUD shall be subject the standards contained herein. These standards serve
to promote consistency and aesthetically pleasing residential development within the City.

1. Exterior finish materials.

a. No less than fifty percent (50%) of the front façade of each residence shall consist of masonry,
brick, stone, wood, or cementitious fiberboard.

b. The façades of each individual residence, except for the front façade, shall be constructed with
water tables of masonry, brick, or stone which extend no less than 24 inches vertically from the
ground below. Each water table shall extend the entire width of the façade.

c. The use of vinyl, aluminum, plastic, and bare metal for exterior siding shall be prohibited.

2. Architectural requirements.

a. All single family residences shall be constructed with a porch, deck, or patio measuring no less
than 36 square feet in area.

b. Architectural projections shall be incorporated to prevent monotonous appearances.

3. Façade variations.

a. Changes in masonry color or other façade materials are required,

b. Changes in window placement and/or composition are required.



DR
AF
T

Page 4 of 7

4. Building dimensions.

a. The minimum heated floor area of a residence shall be consistent with the formally adopted
standards of a given PUD. The minimum heated floor area shall at a minimum be 1,8002,000
square feet for single story dwellings and 2,2002,400 square feet for two story dwellings.

b. No residence shall exceed 35 feet in height. This is not inclusive of basements or subterranean
construction.

c. Detached residential units shall measure no less than 24 32 feet in width.

d. Attached residential units (town houses) shall measure no less than 20 26 feet in width.

e. Buildings containing town houses shall contain a maximum of 6 residential units.

5. Garages.

a. All detached and attached residential units shall be constructed with a garage with a footprint of
no less than 200 square feet. The garage shall be contained within the residence it serves, or be
connected to the subject residence by a covered breezeway no less than four (4) feet in width.

b. The total width of garage doors on the front façade of a detached residence shall not exceed
forty five percent (45%).

c. The total width of garage doors on the front façade of an attached residence shall not exceed
fifty five percent (55%).

d. The requirements herein shall not apply to residences with garage doors at the rear façade, also
known as “rear loaded” residences.

6. Driveway design.

a. Driveways which are partially or wholly located in the front yard of the residence they serve shall
measure no less than 22 feet in length, measured from the front property line to the front of the
garage door, or where the driveway otherwise terminates.

b. No driveway shall have an overall slope greater than twelve percent (12%).

c. The requirements herein shall not apply to residences with garage doors at the rear façade, also
known as “rear loaded” residences.

7. Lot area.

a. A lot which hosts a detached residence shall measure no less than 5,0007,500 square feet in
area.

b. A lot which hosts an attached residence that has a rear loaded garage shall measure no less than
2,000 square feet in area.

c. A lot which hosts an attached residence without a rear loaded garage shall measure no less than
3,000 square feet in area.

H. Resident Amenities. PUD districts shall provide their residents with common amenities which are
proportional to their sizes and densities. Residential amenities positively impact the people they serve and
generally improve quality of life. Complete construction and installation of all approved resident amenities
shall be completed before certificates of occupancy have been issued for fifty percent (50.0%) of the
approved residential units.

1. Amenity types. Acceptable resident amenities are provided below; additionally, each amenity type is
assigned a score.

a. Amphitheater, greater than 1,000 square feet (one point).



DR
AF
T

Page 5 of 7

b. Amphitheater, greater than 2,500 square feet (two points).

c. Basketball courts, regulation size (two points).

d. Children’s active play area, greater than 1,000 square feet (one point).

e. Children’s active play area, greater than 5,000 square feet (two points).

f. Clubhouse, less than 3,000 square feet in heated floor area (two points).

g. Clubhouse, greater than or equal to 3,000 square feet in heated floor area (three points).

h. Community garden, less than 1,800 square feet (one point).

i. Community garden, greater than or equal to 1,800 square feet (one points).

j. Dog park, greater than or equal to 30,000 square feet (one point).

k. Gazebo, greater than 100 square feet (one point).

l. Pickleball courts, regulation size (two points).

m. Swimming pool, less than 1,800 square feet of submerged area (two points). Must be
accompanied by the construction of a clubhouse.

n. Swimming pool, greater than or equal to 1,800 square feet of submerged area (three points).
Must be accompanied by the construction of a clubhouse.

o. Tennis courts, regulation size (two points).

p. Wading/“kiddie” pool, greater than 500 square feet of submerged area (one point).

2. Repeated Amenities. No PUD development approved for fewer than 110 residences may earn points for
installing more than one (1) of the same amenity as provided herein. PUD developments containing a
minimum of 110 residences may install several instances of any given amenity to earn points, provided
that the following conditions are met.

a. No greater than two (2) instances of the same amenity type may be installed for the purpose of
earning points if the development is approved for fewer than 170 residential units.

b. No greater than three (3) instances of the same amenity type may be installed for the purpose
of earning points if the development is approved for a minimum of 170 residential units.

c. Amenities of the same type shall not be placed within 1,000 feet of each other, measured by
the shortest linear distance separating them, for the purpose of earning points.

d. The amenity type is not a gazebo, dog park, nor a wading/“kiddie” pool.

3. Amenity Score. The amenity requirements for a PUD district are dictated by the dwelling county and
overall residential density. The table below provides the minimum number of points (“score”) needed
based on those factors.

a.

Overall Residential
Density

Dwelling Count Minimum Required Amenity Score
(points)

Less than 2.00 dwelling
units per acre.

Fewer than 20 units 1
20 to 49 units 2
50 to 109 units 3
110 to 169 units 5
170 to 249 units 8



DR
AF
T

Page 6 of 7

Greater than 249 units 11

Greater than or equal to
2.00 units per acre.

Fewer than 20 units 1
20 to 49 units 2
50 to 109 units 4
110 to 169 units 7
170 to 249 units 10
Greater than 249 units 13

I. Landscaping and Buffer Requirements. All PUD districts shall be appropriately buffered from adjacent
properties and land uses as provided herein. The buffer shall remain natural and undisturbed, with no
intrusions unless specifically authorized by conditions of zoning, special use, or variance approval. The buffer
shall retain the existing trees and vegetation and may be supplemented with additional plantings to screen
activities, structures, and uses on the property from view. No part of this subsection shall be construed as to
provide an exemption from any ordinance or regulation which pertains to landscaping, buffering, screening,
or trees.

1. If a PUD district abuts an R 100 district, and is approved for the development of multi family dwellings
(apartment houses), duplexes, or other single family attached dwellings, a buffer no less than fifty (50) in
depth shall be required. This buffer shall be installed directly onto the PUD property and extend the
entire width of the abutting R 100 district boundaries in a parallel form.

2. If a PUD district abuts a PSV, RM D, or RM 8 district, and is approved for the development of multi family
dwellings (apartment houses), duplexes, or other single family attached dwellings, a buffer no less than
twenty five (25) in depth shall be required. This buffer shall be installed directly onto the PUD property
and extend the entire width of the abutting PSV, RM D, or RM 8 district boundaries in a parallel form.

3. In developments which are not approved for multi family dwelling construction, sStreet trees shall be
required at a rate of no less than one (1) tree per each residential unit in the development. All rights of
way within the development shall be located within 500 feet of a street tree. Street trees shall measure
of no less than ten (10) feet from each other measured at the time of planting. A variety of tree species
shall be provided; no greater than thirty percent (30%) of street trees shall be of one single species. All
street trees shall be of an acceptable species as established by City development regulations.

J. Conformity with Submitted Application Materials. All development within a PUD district is concept plan
specific and must be conducted in accordance with the approved concept plan. The passage of time shall
have no bearing on the validity of a PUD district and the enforceability of the approved concept plan.

1. All further development on the property shall conform to the standards adopted for the district,
regardless of any change in ownership.

2. The violation of any provision of zoning conditions, as submitted and approved under the provisions in
this title, shall constitute a violation of these regulations.

K. Amendments to Approved Planned Unit Developments. Amendments to the concept plan, land use, layout,
density, or other aspects of an approved PUD shall be proposed to the city planner/engineer prior to formal
consideration. Minor amendments to an approved PUD are limited to increases in lot sizes, decreases in
overall residential density, decrease in total residential lot count, and minor street layout modifications that
would not affect adjacent properties. Any amendment to an approved PUD that is not considered minor, as
provided herein, shall constitute a major amendment.

1. The city planner/engineer is authorized to approve minor amendments to a PUD, without the approval
of the city council.



DR
AF
T

Page 7 of 7

2. Major amendments to an approved PUD shall be approved by the city council. Any applicant for major
amendments to a PUD shall initiate a rezoning application for the subject property, so that it may be
rezoned from the current PUD to the proposed amended PUD. If the rezoning application is approved,
the PUD zoning shall change to that which was approved.



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM: 4 
 
TO:  Mayor and Council 
 
FROM:   Sarah McQuade  
  City Planner  
 
DATE: March 13, 2025 
 
PURPOSE:  RZ-24-0000 
 
BACKGROUND:  

MBC Developers, LLC c/o Andersen Tate & Carr has submitted a request to 
rezone 100 Lyle Road (AU11 148) and 0 Main Street (AU11 031B), a combined 
57.917± acres, from AG – Agricultural district to PUD – Planned Unit 
Development district for the purpose of developing the property with a 188-lot 
single-family detached subdivision. 

At their regularly scheduled meeting on February 19, 2025, the Planning & 
Zoning Commission voted to table this item to the March 19th, 2025, Planning & 
Zoning meeting. 

The item was advertised to be heard at the March 13, 2025 Mayor and Council 
meeting for final decision, though as no recommendation has been provided by 
the Planning & Zoning Commission it is staff recommendation that Mayor & 
Council table this item to the April 10 Business Meeting. 
 
FUNDING:  
N/A 
 

MAYOR 
Rick E. Roquemore 
 
CITY ADMINISTRATOR   
Michael E. Parks 

CITY COUNCIL 
Robert L. Vogel III 

                 Taylor J. Sisk 
Jamie L. Bradley 

Joshua Rowan 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM: 5 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Council 
 
FROM:   Michael Parks,  

City Administrator  
 
DATE: March 13, 2024 
 
 
PURPOSE:  Harmony Grove Cemetery Donation   
 
 
BACKGROUND: Harmony Grove Cemetery is located at the end of Parks Mill Rd. and 
Harmony Grove Church Rd. The cemetery is part of a church that is facing financial 
difficulties and has offered to donate the cemetery to the city. The cemetery carries a 
historical value to the City of Auburn due to the many generational early Auburn citizens 
buried there. There is also a person involved with the Perry-Rainey College in that 
location. Jack has completed research and has obtained the documentation necessary for 
the donation to occur. There are open lots available for sale that will be handled through 
the city. The church has asked that we maintain the name of Harmony Grove Cemetery – 
City of Auburn for historical purposes. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: To approve the donation of the Harmony Grove Cemetery to 
the City of Auburn. 
 
 
FUNDING: N/A 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: See attached 
 

MAYOR 
Rick E. Roquemore 
 
CITY ADMINISTRATOR   
Michael E. Parks 

CITY COUNCIL 
Robert L. Vogel III 

                 Taylor J. Sisk 
Jamie L. Bradley 

Joshua Rowan 


















